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PROLOGUE





BROTHER, CAN YOU SPARE A DIME?


In March 1933, the United States economy was in a shambles. The nationwide unemployment rate stood at 25 percent. In certain areas of the country, the rate was twice that—this in an era when single income households were the norm.1 Gross domestic product had fallen by more than 45 percent since October 1929, when the stock market crash tripped the wire that sent the economy into free fall.2 The Dow Jones Industrial Average had fallen 85 percent from its 1929 high and stood at 59 as 1933 began.3 The nation’s financial system, the lifeblood of the economy, had ceased functioning, and banks were failing at an astounding rate.


In New York City, things were so desperate that Parks Commissioner Robert Moses ordered the sheep removed from the Central Park Zoo and relocated to Prospect Park in Brooklyn, where they could be securely protected from hungry residents of a nearby “Hooverville” who had taken to stealing the sheep and cooking them on open trash can fires.4 Winter 1933 would prove to be the cruelest season of an economic depression that Lionel Robbins from the London School of Economics named “Great,” and curiously the label took.5


Four months earlier, the incumbent president, Herbert Hoover, had been voted out of office by a lopsided margin. Contrary to later conventional belief, the election of Franklin Roosevelt in November 1932 did not give birth to a widespread feeling of optimism about the country’s economic future. In fact, it made things worse. His election was more a personal repudiation of Hoover than it was an endorsement of Roosevelt’s economic plan, which was, to put it kindly, not fully formed. The change Roosevelt promised was to use the full power of federal government to combat the Great Depression and reform the financial system. Few—not even the president-elect himself—could fully foresee and comprehend what course the application of that awesome power would take. Fewer still believed it would effect a quick end to the suffering. Roosevelt’s campaign song, “Happy Days Are Here Again,” from the MGM film Chasing Rainbows,6 famously captured the candidate’s unbridled optimism and self-confidence. Few of his fellow citizens found his optimism contagious.


That winter, Bing Crosby had a number-one hit song with “Brother, Can You Spare a Dime?” capturing the mood of disillusionment and despair that enveloped the nation between Roosevelt’s election and inauguration:


They used to tell me I was building a dream


And so I followed the mob


When there was earth to plow or guns to bear,


I was always there, right on the job


They used to tell me I was building a dream


With peace and glory ahead—


Why should I be standing in line, just waiting for bread?


Once I built a railroad, I made it run


Made it race against time


Once I built a railroad, now it’s done


Brother, can you spare a dime?7


Out of the anger and despair came the popular support for Roosevelt’s efforts to reform the rules governing financial markets. Beneath his cheery exterior, Roosevelt possessed a steel will and cunning determination not to waste the nation’s anger but to channel it for his political advantage. And Roosevelt possessed that most important and elusive quality in a leader: luck. Time and again, a serendipity of events would nudge outcomes in Roosevelt’s favor—and he seemed so often to have the right men in the right positions at the right times. Roosevelt was elected on a promise to use the power of the federal government to end the Great Depression. He made good on that promise, though there would be many ideological course changes and a frustrating trial-and-error approach to policy. And there would also be embarrassing missteps. What follows is the story of the battles of the first two and a half years of his administration that remade the country’s decimated and corrupt financial system—and how, from this crisis, the modern financial system was born.


During that brief period, the Roosevelt administration enacted the Emergency Banking Act of 1933, instituting a nationwide shutdown and massive bailout of the nation’s banks; the Banking Act of 1933, commonly referred to as Glass-Steagall, establishing national deposit insurance and separating commercial banking from investment banking; the Securities Act of 1933, mandating full and fair disclosure in the issuance of securities; and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, regulating the trading of securities and the exchanges they are traded on and creating a national securities regulator, the Securities and Exchange Commission, which would become the most effective and long lasting of any of the New Deal agencies.


This is the story of that remarkable period and the remarkable men who made the modern American financial system.


It is a story of conflicts—Republicans battling Democrats; rural America competing against urban America; hard-money men versus inflationists; ideological reformers fighting free market bankers, brokers, and traders; old-line investment banks competing against upstart commercial banks; youthful New Deal reformers versus old Wilsonian progressives; and brokers competing against traders. And just underneath the surface of these conflicts were the class, ethnic, and religious rivalries that fueled them. Wall Street and Washington were forever changed by these battles.





ONE





CRASH AND BURN


With the benefit of hindsight, the onset of every financial bubble appears blindingly obvious, every collapse is inevitable and preventable. How could they not have seen it coming? The indispensable ingredient for a bubble, however, is plausibility. There could not have been a subprime mortgage collapse in 2007 if it were not “plausible” that interest rates and unemployment would remain low indefinitely, qualified borrowers would continue to increase in number, home prices would continue to rise, and the mortgage refinancing market would remain robust. Plausibility was the Kool-Aid that washed down the adjustable-rate mortgages, the “no down payment” mortgages, the “no document” mortgages, and the synthetic credit default swaps.


The stock market crash of October 1929 had its own narrative of plausibility. A revolution in consumer technology had launched a “new era” of economic prosperity. Commercial aviation, “talkie” movies, affordable refrigerators, air conditioners, washers and dryers, and many other new applications of electrical motors and internal combustion engines were creating new markets and enormous wealth. Why shouldn’t the Dow Jones Industrial Average have nearly doubled between January 1928 and August 1929?1


But as summer turned to fall in 1929, a nervous disquiet had overtaken Wall Street. On September 5, a financial adviser named Roger Babson (founder of Babson College) gave a not-too-important speech at a luncheon for the not terribly influential financial community of Wellesley, Massachusetts. Babson said a major stock market correction was coming. The Dow Jones newswire picked up his speech, and without any logical explanation, his remarks caused a frantic last hour of trading, sending prices tumbling. It would later be dubbed “Babson’s break.”2 On September 24, there was a similar sharp stock market decline, this one without any obvious explanation. Prices held in early October, but market insiders took no comfort from this, as the number of margin loans taken from the “call money” market—where banks and corporations loaned excess cash at high interest rates overnight to stock market and commodities market speculators—was increasing. Normally, in a healthy, functioning market, this rush of debt-financed liquidity into the equity market would be accompanied by a rise in stock prices. Prices, however, remained stagnant.


During a Saturday morning trading session on October 19, the market dropped sharply on heavy volume. On Monday, October 21, the margin calls began and a chain reaction—a downward spiral in prices—followed. As stock price decreases led to margin calls that were met not with more cash deposited in brokerage accounts but with sell orders, prices declined further, leading to even more margin calls—and even more sell orders. Prices rebounded slightly the following day, but on Wednesday, October 23, the Dow dropped 7 percent on heavy volume.3


On Thursday morning, the market continued its free fall.


In the recent past, when corrections veered toward something worse, toward panic, the market looked for protection and leadership not from Washington, not from the New York Stock Exchange, but from the bank that bore the name of a father and son who were thought to hold nearly godlike powers over the world of finance. Across the street from the New York Stock Exchange, on the southeast corner of Wall Street and Broad Street in lower Manhattan, stood the most important edifice in the history of American finance: 23 Wall Street, the office of J.P. Morgan & Co., known simply as “The Corner.” At J.P. Morgan & Co. that Thursday morning, the nation’s most prominent bankers were summoned by J.P. Morgan Jr. to devise a plan to bail out the stock market. Morgan’s crisis working group was comprised of Thomas Lamont and George Whitney of J.P. Morgan & Co., Albert Wiggin of Chase National Bank, Charles Mitchell of National City Bank, and Richard Whitney, George’s brother, the acting president of the New York Stock Exchange and a floor broker for the House of Morgan.4


The course of action agreed upon by Morgan and the rest of the bankers’ consortium that day would propel Richard Whitney on a ten-year course of triumph and disgrace unparalleled in American financial history. Whitney started life perfectly credentialed for leadership in the American WASP aristocracy. His family came over on the Arbella, the first ship to land in the Massachusetts Bay Colony following the Mayflower. Born in Boston in 1888, the son of a bank president and nephew of a Morgan partner, he attended the Groton School, where he was a favorite of headmaster Reverend Endicott Peabody and captain of the baseball team. At Harvard, he was asked to join the Porcellian Club and rowed varsity crew. After a year at a brokerage firm in Boston, he went to Wall Street, buying a seat on the New York Stock Exchange in 1912 and forming his own firm, Richard Whitney & Company. He married Gertrude Sheldon, the daughter of George Sheldon, a business associate of J.P. Morgan Sr. and president of the elite Union League Club in New York City. And when Richard’s brother George became a J.P. Morgan & Co. partner in 1919, the Whitney brothers became the brightest young stars among Wall Street royalty.5


Indicative of the respective power and influence of the two institutions on Wall Street at the time, the Federal Reserve Board also met that morning in Washington, D.C., to receive word from J.P. Morgan & Co. as to what action it should take in response to the emerging crisis. The bankers’ consortium put together a pool of $240,000,000 to stabilize the market and sent Richard Whitney back across the street to the New York Stock Exchange with instructions to buy stock. Whitney marched onto the trading floor, went straight to post No. 2, and placed the single most celebrated order in stock market history, bidding $205 for 10,000 shares of U.S. Steel—even though the market price was below $200 per share and falling fast. Word of Whitney’s bid spread quickly and the mood of the market brightened, with traders believing that Morgan would be able to stop the collapse as his father had done in the Panic of 1907. The next day newspaper headlines declared that Richard Whitney had halted the stock panic. Whitney’s status as the hero of Black Thursday propelled him to the presidency of the New York Stock Exchange in 1930. But the reprieve was short-lived.6


On Tuesday, October 29—Black Tuesday—the Dow Jones Industrial Average lost 11.75 percent on record volume of 16.4 million shares.7 There would be no Morgan bailout this time. The capital of the private sector banks was exposed to be a drop in the bucket as an ocean of leverage drained from the market. By the market’s close, the Dow stood at 230, having lost 40 percent of its value from its peak of 381 earlier in the year.8 It would ultimately bottom out at 41 during the summer of 1932.9 Unlike his father in the Panic of 1907, J.P. Morgan Jr. in 1929 could not save the day.


It is difficult to comprehend today what a psychic shock it was to Wall Street in 1929 when J.P. Morgan & Co. proved impotent in preventing the Crash. The defusing of the Panic of 1907 by Morgan the Elder was the template that all of Wall Street had believed would solve any future crisis. It was during the 1907 crisis that J.P. Morgan & Co., already the dominant bank in America, established itself as effectively the nation’s central bank. By the turn of the century J.P. Morgan & Co., under the iron-fisted control and leadership of John Pierpont Morgan, Sr., was the preeminent banking firm for mergers, acquisitions, and restructurings for the railroad, steel, and banking industries. As the lender and adviser of choice to industrial corporate America during this period of rapid growth, Morgan Sr. was arguably more powerful in economic matters than the president. His son, J.P. Morgan Jr., joined the firm after graduating from Harvard in 1886 and was close at hand when his father saved the financial system in 1907.10


The Panic of 1907 began with the San Francisco earthquake of 1906. The huge insurance payouts in the disaster’s aftermath resulted in insurance companies liquidating investments and withdrawing deposits, which depressed asset prices and strained the available currency supply, particularly on the West Coast. There was no central bank in the United States then—the Federal Reserve system would not be created until 1914—so a nationwide, coordinated control of the money supply in such emergencies was impossible. But it was the disastrous attempt by Augustus and Otto Heinze to corner the market in shares of their own firm, United Copper Company, while the system was stressed that precipitated the panic, resulting in both their financial ruin and the insolvency of the banks that financed their scheme. This failure set off a run on the already cash-strapped banks.11


On November 2, 1907, as the crisis escalated with bank runs and rumors of bank runs, J.P. Morgan Sr. summoned to his Manhattan residence more than forty senior executives from the nation’s largest banks to orchestrate a bailout plan: the strongest institutions would acquire the weakest, with others being provided liquidity by solvent banks such as J.P. Morgan & Co. The banks were thus saved.12 Morgan Sr. was convinced by the experience that a formal central banking apparatus was needed to avoid future crises, and he encouraged the federal government to develop one.


To prevent future liquidity crises and panics, in May 1908, Congress passed the Aldrich-Vreeland Act, authorizing national banks in groups of ten or more, with at least aggregate capital of $5,000,000, to form currency associations approved by the Comptroller of the Currency and issue emergency currency backed by obligations and securities. The emergency currency was issued only once—during the panic arising from the outbreak of World War I in 1914.13


But more important, the Aldrich-Vreeland Act also established the National Monetary Commission, chaired by Republican senator Nelson Aldrich, to study banking and monetary systems around the world and make legislative recommendations to improve the nation’s banking system and eliminate future financial panics. The report was submitted to Congress on January 9, 1912, and formed the foundation of the Federal Reserve Act of 1913, save one critical feature: the “Aldrich Plan” contemplated a central banking system under the control of private bankers as opposed to the federal government.


The Aldrich Plan was conceived at a secret “Skull & Bones”–type conference that could have been scripted by a conspiracy theorist (and indeed has fascinated conspiracy theorists ever since). In November 1910, Senator Aldrich invited to the gathering five of the country’s leading bankers—Henry P. Davison and Benjamin Strong, senior partners of J.P. Morgan & Co.; Frank Vanderlip, president of National City Bank; Charles D. Norton, president of First National Bank of New York; and Paul Warburg, senior partner of the Kuhn, Loeb & Company banking house. The men met on a train platform in Hoboken, New Jersey, dressed as duck hunters supposedly on their way to a hunting trip and departed in a private, sealed railcar. Two days later, they disembarked in Brunswick, Georgia, where they boarded a boat to a private resort on Jekyll Island, owned by J.P. Morgan, Sr. Throughout the train journey, the men only referred to one another by their first names in order to maximize the secrecy of their mission. The “First Names Club,” as they called themselves, met for nine days, emerging with what became the Aldrich Plan—a National Reserve Association with fifteen regional banks, its directors chosen by geographic region by private bankers. The National Reserve Association would have been given the power to print money and make loans to member banks and otherwise function as a traditional central bank but for its private ownership and control.14


But in May 1912, the Aldrich Plan ran head on into a wave of anti–Wall Street sentiment stirred by hearings conducted by a U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Banking and Currency subcommittee, chaired by Louisiana Democrat Arsene Pujo, to investigate whether an illegal cartel controlled credit in America. Under the direction of lead counsel Samuel Untermyer, the Pujo Committee revealed the enormous influence of banks such as J.P. Morgan & Co., but found no conclusive violations of law.


Untermyer’s star witness was J.P. Morgan, Sr., who made his first and only appearance before a congressional committee. His defiant, condescending lecturing of Untermyer reinforced the public perception of him as an imperious, overbearing figure:


“There is no way in which one man could obtain a money monopoly. . . . Commercial credit is based primarily on character. Money cannot buy it. . . . A man I do not trust could not get money from me on all the bonds in Christendom. . . . I have known men to come into my office and I have given them a check for $1,000,000 when I know they had not a cent in the world.”15


Untermyer’s investigation was materially hampered by a lack of cooperation from the administration of Republican president William Howard Taft. Taft instructed his Comptroller of the Currency to block Untermyer’s attempts to access any records of national banks. Despite its inability to prove violations of the law, the Pujo Committee did make a number of recommendations for new legislation to improve the financial system.


With the election of Woodrow Wilson in 1912, the Democrats advanced their own plan for a central banking system under the control of a public entity, the Federal Reserve Board, to be appointed by the president and confirmed by the Senate. The legislation was sponsored by Virginia representative Carter Glass and Oklahoma senator Robert Latham Owen. The Glass-Owen bill passed the House on December 22, 1913, and the Senate on the following day. It created twelve regional Federal Reserve Banks, from which all nationally chartered banks—and state-chartered banks that became members of the Federal Reserve System—could borrow money in times of stress and in a single national currency, the Federal Reserve Note.16


Both Wall Street and the reformers were hopeful that the creation of the Federal Reserve System marked the end of financial panics in the United States. Oversight by the Federal Reserve Board would modernize American banking and end bank failures. It proved to be an overly optimistic belief. The problems with American banking weren’t limited to those arising by the absence of a central bank. The uniquely American invention of unit banking—the laws of many states prohibiting a single banking company from owning more than one bank or a few bank branches—born of the fear of consolidation of financial control in the large Wall Street banks, emerged from the Pujo Committee hearings stronger than ever. The quaint, naive American love affair with the small-town It’s a Wonderful Life–type bank perpetuated an outdated, fragmented banking system that was overbanked with too many small, thinly capitalized mom-and-pop operations scattered throughout the heartland. And these small banks, because of their size and the lack of sophisticated controls and operating procedures, were not eligible (or willing to change to become eligible) to be members of the Federal Reserve System, which had minimum asset and governance criteria for membership. Accordingly, in times of stress, these banks could not access the Fed discount window for liquidity.


But despite the creation of the Federal Reserve System, all wasn’t well with the banking system long before the 1929 Crash. An average of more than 600 banks a year failed between 1921 and 1929, ten times the rate of failure during the preceding decade.17 Most of the failed banks in the 1920s were small institutions in rural areas, leading many on Wall Street to conclude that the collapses were caused by mismanagement. Whatever the cause, these bank failures had caused the insolvency of the state deposit insurance funds (there was no federal deposit insurance then).


After the Crash, the illusion of a financial safety net anchored by J.P. Morgan & Co. and the Federal Reserve vanished, and the number of failures and the size of the failed banks and depositor losses increased dramatically. In 1929, 659 banks failed that had in the aggregate $230,643,000 of deposits, losing depositors $76,959,000. In 1930, 1,350 banks failed, holding deposits of $837,096,000, with depositor losses of a staggering $237,359,000.18


The largest bank to fail in 1930—what was then the largest bank failure in U.S. history—was the Bank of the United States in New York, with over $286,000,000 in deposits. The bank had been chartered by two unscrupulous garment dealers, Bernard Marcus and Saul Singer. They granted $2,578,932 in uncollateralized loans to themselves and their cronies on the bank’s board of directors. When the New York State Commissioner of Banks shut the Bank of the United States—a purposely misleading name designed to imply a government connection—on December 11, 1930, more than 440,000 depositors, mostly Jewish immigrants like the bank owners, lost their savings. They would only recover about half of their account balances. Marcus and Singer were convicted of fraud and sentenced to prison terms in Sing Sing.19


With Wall Street incapable of containing the economic collapse, the nation looked to Washington. It is untrue that President Herbert Hoover declined to take action to try to stop the economic slide, but different and much more dramatic action was required to stop the hemorrhaging of economic output and jobs. Hoover’s support of the disastrous Smoot-Hawley Tariff Act in 1930 accelerated the decline in international trade at precisely the moment when barriers needed to be eliminated. But Hoover had engaged in a large public works spending program and had successfully negotiated a one-year international moratorium on the repayment of World War I reparations in 1931, helping to slow the decline in international trade. He also attempted to coordinate private sector efforts to strengthen the financial system. On October 4, 1931, the president summoned a group of bankers to the Washington, D.C., home of his secretary of the Treasury, Andrew Mellon, to obtain pledges for a $500,000,000 credit pool to bail out weak and failing banks. This pool, named the National Credit Corporation, turned out to be a futile half measure, lasting only a few weeks and dispersing a paltry $20,000,000. The funding banks, mostly large New York City institutions, had no desire to risk larger sums.20


In December 1931, at the urging of Federal Reserve chairman Eugene Meyer, plans were drawn up for a publicly funded federal agency to stem bank failures. On January 22, 1932, President Hoover signed the law creating the Reconstruction Finance Corporation (RFC), with banker Charles G. Dawes as its president. The RFC was funded by the issuance of $2,000,000,000 of government bonds, an unprecedented debt raise by a government-sponsored entity then. By the end of 1932, it had authorized loans of almost $900,000,000 to more than 4,000 banks, though its effectiveness was significantly hampered by political squabbling over its operations.21


The principal squabbler was Senator Huey P. Long of Louisiana, who sought to use the RFC as his personal piggy bank to promote his “Share the Wealth” populist, socialist agenda, in order to advance his presidential ambitions. Long called Fed chairman Meyer, a member of the RFC board, and demanded immediate loans for his favored banks in Louisiana. When Meyer explained that the RFC had procedures that needed to be followed, including approval of loans the size Long was requesting by the full board of the RFC, Long threatened to take the next train out of Washington, D.C., and close all the banks in Louisiana, Mississippi, and Arkansas. Meyer wished him safe travels and hung up the phone. Senator Long would be a colorful, infuriating force to be reckoned with throughout Roosevelt’s drive to regulate the financial markets, and his relentless advocacy for small banks and “Main Street” financial interests left an indelible mark on financial regulation.22


Long’s life story is so outlandish, his antics so outrageous, that only the truth about him can do him justice. Hugh Pierce Long Jr. was born in Winn Parish, Louisiana, the seventh of nine children born to Hugh and Caledonia Long. Inexplicably, his mother thought he should be a Baptist preacher. Huey thought maybe he should become a lawyer, and with $100 dollars in his pocket set out for law school at the University of Oklahoma. En route to Norman, Oklahoma, he happened upon a casino, promptly lost the $100, and, without money to pay tuition, thought a career in sales might be a wiser choice. In 1913, he married Rose McConnell, the winner of a baking contest he staged to promote a vegetable shortening he was selling.23


In 1914, he enrolled in Tulane University Law School. Not interested in further studying after his first year, he nevertheless convinced the Louisiana Bar Association to let him take the bar exam. He passed. In 1918, Long ran for the Louisiana State Railroad Commission and won, becoming the commission’s chairman by 1922. In 1924, he ran for governor, finishing third in the Democratic primary. He ran again in 1928 and won.24


Long was an extraordinary campaigner, equally popular with the downstate Catholics as with upstate Baptists. He often told the story of how on Sunday mornings he would wake up early and hitch the horse to the wagon and take his Baptist grandparents to 7:00 a.m. service, hurrying home to take his Catholic grandparents to 9:00 a.m. Mass. When an aide mentioned he never knew Long had Catholic grandparents, the governor answered, “Don’t be a damn fool, we didn’t even have a horse.”25 He railed against the anti-Catholic bigotry expressed against Al Smith, the Democratic presidential nominee that year, while in the next breath declaring that Herbert Hoover was unfit to be president because he was a Quaker.26


After his election, Long proceeded to shock even the rather jaded Louisiana political class with his aggressive patronage spending, often joking that every one of his relatives was on the state payroll except those in federal prison. He didn’t like the governor’s mansion and soon after being sworn in requested the public works department build him a new one. When an official correctly pointed out that funds for the project would require legislative approval, Long had a friend in the demolition business level the mansion in the middle of the night. The next morning he called the official and suggested they start cleanup and construction on a new mansion.27 After a year in office, Long was impeached by the Louisiana House of Representatives, but he had the support of the Senate, which dropped the case. Long appeared invincible. They started calling him the “Kingfish.”


In March of 1930, Long launched his own newspaper, funded with “voluntary” subscriptions from all state workers—none declined to subscribe. Later that year, he announced he was running for U.S. Senate and, if elected, would continue to hold the governorship as well. He won—and kept his promise.


During Long’s Senate campaign, the Bank of Lafayette and Trust Company experienced a run, and if it opened for business the following day, it would not be able to meet withdrawals. They called Governor Long. Long showed up at the bank at dawn, making sure he would be first in line when the bank opened. About an hour before opening time, nervous customers gathered, withdrawal slips in hand, shocked to see the governor also in line. When the bank opened on time, as Long had directed, he gathered all the customers in the lobby and informed them that he had in his hand a withdrawal slip for $260,000, the entire amount the State of Louisiana had on deposit at the bank—and far more than the cash the bank had available. Accordingly, they could leave their money in the bank, as Long was prepared to do. If not, Long would withdraw all the state’s cash and declare the bank insolvent right then. With no alternative, the customers left. And the bank was saved.28


By the spring of 1932, bank failures had spread to money center cities. Charles Dawes resigned as president of the RFC and returned to Chicago in order to save his own family bank, the Central Republic National Bank. By June, bank runs had closed fifteen smaller banks in Chicago and twenty-five more in the suburbs. Central Republic had lost $239,000,000 in deposits over the prior year, and Dawes concluded that the bank could not be saved. Melvin Traylor, president of the First National Bank of Chicago, Chicago’s largest bank, feared that if Central Republic failed, First National would soon follow, and appealed to President Hoover and Dawes’s successor at the RFC, Jesse Jones, for a bailout. The Democratic National Convention was being held in Chicago when this banking crisis was erupting, and Hoover thought it would be a political disaster for the biggest banks in the nation’s second largest city to collapse with the national press in town. Saving Central Republic became Hoover’s top priority. The RFC agreed to loan the bank $90,000,000 and the crisis was temporarily averted.29


It was later revealed by Dawes that Central Republic had loaned amounts equal to nearly 90 percent of its deposits to companies in the highly leveraged utility conglomerate of Samuel Insull, the bankrupt Chicago magnate whose byzantine holding company structures allowed him to control a $500,000,000 empire with only $27,000,000 in equity.30 The Insull and Central Republic disasters were the impetus for the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.


Despite the fact that Jesse Jones and Melvin Traylor were both Democrats, Hoover’s intercession on behalf of Republican Dawes’s family bank became a political football, with congressional Democrats alleging partisan favoritism. The Speaker of the House, Texas Democrat John Nance Garner, pushed through an amendment to the RFC enabling legislation requiring full disclosure of all RFC loans.


Thereafter, banks feared that if it was publicly disclosed that they had received a loan from the RFC, that alone might trigger a run on the bank. The result, of course, was that weak banks were afraid to access the liquidity they desperately needed. (It was this failure of the RFC that Treasury secretary Hank Paulson and Federal Reserve chairman Ben Bernanke sought to avoid when requiring the nine largest American banks to take TARP equity investments from the Treasury in October 2008—whether or not they needed or wanted the equity capital.)


Nonetheless, the efforts of the RFC contributed to a reduction in bank failures in 1932, as compared with 1931. In 1932, 1,453 banks failed (as compared with 2,293 in 1931) that had deposits of $706,187,000 and depositor losses of $168,302,000 (as compared with deposits of $1,640,232,000 and losses of $340,476,000, respectively, in 1931).31


The leader of the RFC’s elite legal corps was a jovial, brilliant 32-year-old Irish American corporate lawyer from Pawtucket, Rhode Island, named Thomas Corcoran, whom an adoring Franklin Roosevelt would nickname “Tommy the Cork.”


Corcoran had ended up at the RFC by accident. After catching the eye of Professor Felix Frankfurter while working on the Harvard Law Review, Corcoran, together with eight of the other gifted students in his graduating class, was selected to join the Harvard Law School faculty as a teaching fellow. Frankfurter would make Corcoran his most nurtured mentee and was determined to protect and promote his extraordinarily gifted—but sensitive—protégé. “He is struggling hard with the burden of inferiority imposed on him because of his Irish Catholicism, by his experiences at Brown, in Providence, and in Boston,” Frankfurter wrote. After his teaching fellowship ended in 1926, Frankfurter arranged for Corcoran to clerk with Supreme Court Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes and arranged a permanent job for Corcoran with the Wall Street firm of Cotton & Franklin (predecessor to today’s Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP), predicting correctly that Joseph Cotton, a Newport native, would take a liking to the fellow Rhode Islander.32


By 1932, the Great Depression had ravaged the corporate law business. Wall Street law firms were slashing the salaries of even top-performing associates like Corcoran. When Federal Reserve Board chairman Meyer set out to create the RFC, he asked George Franklin, the other name partner of Cotton & Franklin, to serve as the new agency’s general counsel. Franklin agreed to take the position, but when Joseph Cotton was tragically killed in a car accident, Franklin concluded he could not leave his law firm without both name partners. Instead, he recommended to Martin Bogue, who was chosen as general counsel, that he offer Tommy Corcoran the assistant general counsel position. Corcoran accepted the offer and rented a house in Georgetown with Edward Foley Jr., another young Irish American lawyer who came to Washington, D.C., from Syracuse, New York, to help start the RFC. Their house would become a boarding house and clubhouse for the youthful New Deal legal elite.33


While the private Wall Street banks no longer had balance sheets capable of bailing out a financial system that had grown so large since 1907, certainly the Federal Reserve Banks did. But the Federal Reserve Board had done far too little, far too late, to stem the financial meltdown. As stock prices soared in 1928 and 1929, the Fed grew alarmed that Federal Reserve Bank loans were being loaned by member banks—and by corporate and industrial borrowers from member banks—to brokers financing purchases of stock on margin by brokerage customers. In response, the Fed raised the discount rate from 3.5 percent to 5 percent. It also reduced liquidity through open-market securities sales. While loans to brokers and loans by brokers to their customers turned out to be remarkably safe (broker loans of more than $4,000,000,000 made in the “call money” market were liquidated between October 1, 1929, and December 1, 1929, without the loss of a penny to a single lender), consequences to the purchasers of the securities on margin and to the economy were catastrophic. Easy money pouring into equity markets from the Federal Reserve Banks had created a financial bubble. In many ways, the ease with which the bubble could be burst and the inflated assets liquidated on publicly traded equity markets, while advantageous for the margin lenders, intensified the shock and panic to the economy.34


Rather than flooding the system with emergency liquidity after the Crash, the Fed acted timidly, as if repenting for the past sins of its easy-money policies that fueled the boom before the bust. This was due in part to an institutional belief that its responsibility was principally to protect its member banks, which were mostly safe and solvent at the time, and not to shore up equity values or the economy at large.35 New York Federal Reserve Bank president and former J.P. Morgan & Co. banker Benjamin Strong, who had served since the creation of the Federal Reserve System in 1914 and had the confidence of all Federal Reserve Bank directors, died on October 16, 1928. His successor, George L. Harrison, was Strong’s general counsel, and although able, Harrison could not take command of the situation and demand decisive action from his colleagues as Strong could have.36


After the Crash, the Federal Reserve Board acted, but moderately, lowering the discount rate progressively from 5 1/8 percent to 1 7/8 percent by the end of 1930 and increasing its open-market purchases. But banks used these funds not to make loans but to bolster reserves and maintain their liquidity in fear of bank runs.37


Throughout 1931, another crisis was looming for the Fed. Fearful of both inflationary government policies and the safety of the American banking system, foreigners began large-scale withdrawals from U.S. banks and demanded payment in gold, to which they were entitled. These withdrawals accelerated after England went off gold standard in September 1931, with fears growing that America would be next. Dollars leaving the Federal Reserve System in massive amounts created problems that moving money between U.S. banks did not. Under law, each Federal Reserve Bank had to hold gold or short-term commercial paper with an aggregate value at least equal to the Federal Reserve Notes they issued, and at least 40 percent of that amount was required to be gold. Given the collapse in economic activity, there was a sharp decline in short-term commercial paper issued by businesses and held by banks. Since banks needed currency to stave off bank runs and satisfy withdrawals, that left only gold to backstop the currency. And there was not enough gold available.


On January 27, 1932, Hoover summoned Senator Carter Glass, the leading Democrat on the Banking and Currency Committee, to the White House and asked him to introduce legislation expanding the eligible collateral for Federal Reserve Notes to include U.S. government bonds and expanding the eligible collateral for the Federal Reserve Bank’s loans to their member banks. Glass was reluctant to support such an inflationary measure, but as the banking system weakened, he relented. The measure passed both houses of Congress by a voice vote on February 26 and was signed by President Hoover the next day.38


The Federal Reserve Banks also undertook massive open-market purchases over the next six months, doubling the size of the Fed’s balance sheet. But bank lending did not increase, and business activity and prices of securities and commodities declined. The money that didn’t go under people’s mattresses stayed in bank vaults or went overseas.39


Hoover made efforts to counteract the currency hoarding. On March 6, 1932, he announced a program whereby the secretary of the Treasury would issue one-year Treasury certificates at 2 percent interest in small denominations—$50, $100, and $500—to encourage hoarders who did not trust the banks to leave their money with the federal government, and thereby get that currency back in circulation. There were few takers—only $35,000,000 of these so-called Baby Bonds were issued.40 In addition, on July 21, 1932, Hoover signed the Emergency Relief and Reconstruction Act, which for the first time allowed the Federal Reserve Banks to lend to non-banking entities, including individuals, if no bank would lend to them, so long as high-quality collateral (short-term commercial paper or government securities) was pledged.41


Hoover also took action to attempt to help homeowners unable to meet their mortgages. Like in the 2008 crisis, the financial system was weighed down by defaults on mortgages obtained in an easy-money environment based on values inflated by a housing bubble. On July 22, 1932, Hoover signed the Federal Home Loan Bank Act, establishing twelve Federal Home Loan Banks supervised by the Federal Home Loan Bank Board to buy troubled mortgages from banks and thereafter favorably modify their terms for homeowners. The problem with the legislation was that it required that any mortgage purchased not have unpaid principal in excess of two-thirds of the current value of the home (in other words, requiring a 33 1/3 percent equity cushion). Few troubled mortgages fit that profile, and the banks did not want to part with those that did. The program was totally ineffective. (Roosevelt would take the idea and retool it with the Home Owners’ Loan Act, enacted on June 13, 1933, creating the Home Owners’ Loan Corporation, which was authorized to acquire and readjust the terms of mortgages, but with eligibility requirements that allowed unpaid principal of up to 80 percent of the value of the home. This program was a success, refinancing nearly 10 percent of all nonfarm mortgages in the country, and with the Home Owners’ Loan Corporation ultimately netting the U.S. taxpayers a small profit.)


By the fall of 1932, time had run out for Herbert Hoover. There would be no recovery to save him from electoral defeat. Franklin Roosevelt would be the next president. But his economic program, set out piecemeal in his campaign speeches that fall, was skeletal. He had few Wall Street supporters and only a handful of advisers with Wall Street experience. The one who appeared to be closest to him was a young, lone-wolf Irish American banker from Boston.


On October 1, 1932, the Roosevelt campaign train arrived for a one-day visit to Chicago, where the candidate was to give a speech at the Hotel Stevens. On the train with Roosevelt was his friend from Boston Joseph P. Kennedy, who had made his first fortune in 1920s Hollywood restructuring failing movie companies. Kennedy had contributed generously to Roosevelt’s campaign and had been extraordinarily helpful at the nominating convention in Chicago, but many in the Roosevelt inner circle were leery of him because of his Wall Street ties and rumors of his participation in bear pools. That day of campaigning also coincided with the third game of the World Series between the New York Yankees and the Chicago Cubs, with the Yankees ahead two games to none. Joe Kennedy, to everyone’s amazement, arranged a block of tickets large enough for everyone on Roosevelt’s campaign train to attend the game.42


In the top of the fifth inning, with the bases empty and the score tied four to four, Babe Ruth came to the plate against Cubs left-hander Charlie Root. Ruth had homered against Root in the first inning. With a zero-to-two count, Ruth lifted his bat, pointing it toward the center field stands. Root delivered a curve ball that Ruth demolished, launching a towering home run well over the 440-foot mark in the deepest part of Wrigley Field. Reporter Joe Williams for The New York World-Telegram wrote the headline “Ruth Calls Shot,” naming the most famous home run in World Series history.43


Kennedy had a knack for being at the right place at the right time with the right people. This talent would later prove invaluable for Roosevelt’s program of market reform.


*  *  *


The landslide election of Franklin Roosevelt on November 8, 1932, did little to calm the nation’s depositors. Roosevelt’s 22,800,000 popular votes to Hoover’s 15,750,000 resulted in an Electoral College rout of 472 to 59, but this was more a vote of no confidence in Hoover than an endorsement of Roosevelt.44 Many feared that Roosevelt would devalue the dollar and otherwise implement inflationary policies in order to stimulate exports and economic growth. This fear led to increased gold withdrawals from the Federal Reserve System, particularly by foreigners, further limiting the amount of gold-backed currency the Federal Reserve Banks could issue.


The first bank holiday of the Great Depression was announced by the lieutenant governor of Nevada on October 31, 1932. The Nevada banking system was dominated by one man, George Wingfield, who controlled twelve of the state’s twenty-six banks. Wingfield was Nevada’s Republican national committeeman, and his lawyer was the Democratic national committeeman. Local journalists would joke that Wingfield’s Reno National Bank building was the real capital of the state.45


In the 1930s, Nevada’s economy was dominated by mining and ranching, and with the collapse in commodity prices, most loans were substantially underwater. Wingfield’s banks had foreclosed on loans to 150 ranches, which owned 70 percent of the cattle and sheep in Nevada. He loaned on sheep at $8 per head but only realized $0.25 per head in foreclosure sales.46


Four months later, a public-private consortium bailed out the Nevada banks by merging all of Wingfield’s properties into a new, recapitalized Bank of Nevada, with supportive loans from the RFC and California investors.


Nevada’s banking holiday had little effect on the national banking system. The state had a small population and was surprisingly self-contained. Its banks had almost no ties outside Nevada. The optimists hoped the bank failures had been contained.


The 1932 presidential election would be the last one with a four-month interregnum before the swearing-in of the president and new Congress. On March 2, 1932, Congress approved an amendment to the Constitution moving the inauguration from March 4 to January 20, but the required thirty-six states did not ratify the amendment until February 9, 1933. This left a long-lived lame-duck president at precisely the time when vigorous, mandated leadership was essential. Nevada would prove to be only the beginning, and Washington was adrift.


Bank runs started occurring regularly in December 1932, mostly in rural areas. The RFC stepped in to save banks in Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, Minnesota, and Tennessee. In January 1933, panics were narrowly averted in Cleveland, St. Louis, Little Rock, Mobile, Chattanooga, and Memphis. By early February 1933, inter-city interbank lending had all but stopped.47 The warning lights were flashing bright red.


On Friday, February 3, 1933, Huey Long’s Louisiana became the second state to announce a bank holiday, but being Louisiana, it was accomplished creatively. On that day, the Hibernia Bank and Trust Company of New Orleans, the state’s third largest bank, informed state officials that it could not make another day’s withdrawals. Senator Huey Long came to the bank’s rescue. Needing no convincing of the gravity of the situation this time, the RFC approved a loan and told Long that it would be negotiated over the course of the weekend and funded on Monday, February 6. On Sunday, the banks were closed. This left the problem of Saturday, February 4. Needing only a one-day reprieve—and a Saturday no less—Long and Louisiana governor Oscar Allen wanted to avoid declaring a banking holiday. Late Friday night, Long had the New Orleans City librarian roused from his bed with instructions to find a historical event that had occurred on February 4 that might justify a state holiday. The best the librarian could come up with was that on February 3, 1917, the United States had severed diplomatic relations with Germany. That was good enough for Long. In the early morning hours, Long and Governor Allen gathered a bleary-eyed and confused local press corps and proclaimed that February 4 would thereafter be “Break with Germany Day” in Louisiana, the state’s newest holiday. Long laid it on good and thick, praising the wisdom of President Wilson in severing diplomatic relations with the Imperial German Government: “More than 16 years have intervened before the American people have turned their eyes back to the lofty ideals of human uplift and new freedom as propounded by Woodrow Wilson. . . . It is now fitting that due recognition by the great State of Louisiana in line with the far-reaching principles enunciated by that illustrious Southerner who sought to break the fetters of humankind throughout the world be given.”48 The local German consul, outraged, lodged a formal protest. When a Baton Rouge newspaper printed an early edition revealing the true reason for the holiday, Long ordered the state militia to seize all copies at the printing press and to occupy the newspaper’s facilities.49


On Sunday morning, officials of Hibernia Bank announced the $20,000,000 RFC bailout. On Monday morning, the first person in line at Hibernia’s New Orleans branch was none other than Huey P. Long, accompanied by a pack of reporters. Long deposited $20,000 in cash, declaring, “I can’t think of a safer place to put the money than right here.” The panic was over.50


The critical juncture in the banking crisis occurred on St. Valentine’s Day 1933 in Detroit. At the center of the disaster was Edsel Ford, the hapless only child of automobile magnate Henry Ford.


To carve out his own identity, separate from that of his tyrannical father, Edsel had invested heavily in the Union Guardian Trust Company of Detroit, a bank started by his brother-in-law. The bank was very successful, in large part due to the exclusive loans it provided to Ford dealers for the financing of automobile purchases. By 1933, the collapse in auto sales had decimated Union Guardian, which needed a bailout from the RFC. Edsel, unable to bear his father’s wrath, did not tell him of the extent of the deteriorating financial condition of the bank. When Henry found out, he became so enraged that Edsel fell into a deep depression from which he never fully recovered. While Henry bailed out Edsel personally, he refused to bail out the bank. Had Henry Ford agreed to leave Ford Motor Company deposits in Union Guardian, it’s quite possible the banking crisis could have been contained and worked out by the RFC without catastrophe. But when told that Union Guardian would fail without his assistance, possibly triggering a crash of the national banking system, the seventy-year-old Henry Ford replied, “If a crash has to come, let the crash come. I still feel young.” Union Guardian’s failure prompted Michigan governor William Comstock to declare an eight-day banking holiday, closing all 550 national and state banks in Michigan. This set off an irreversible chain reaction of bank closings across the nation.51


*  *  *


The anatomy of a bank run is relatively simple. When there is concern over the solvency of a bank, merchants refuse to accept payment on checks drawn on that bank and depositors rush to withdraw their money, fearing that there will not be enough liquid assets to be converted into cash to cover all deposits. To meet anticipated withdrawals, the bank stops making loans, liquidates whatever assets it can, and withdraws its reserves from either its Federal Reserve Bank (if it’s a member) or the large private bank at which it deposits its reserves. If there are enough banks doing this all concurrently in a particular region, the Federal Reserve Bank for that region will itself need to borrow reserves from other Federal Reserve Banks to provide the currency necessary to meet the withdrawals of its member banks. Large banks holding reserves for non–Federal Reserve member banks will, in turn, need to withdraw their deposits from their Federal Reserve Bank to meet their liquidity needs as well. When the bank in trouble runs out of assets to pledge as collateral to the applicable Federal Reserve Bank and large private banks, the cash spigot is shut off and the bank fails. When things are very, very bad, Federal Reserve Banks, worried about the liquidity and solvency of other Federal Reserve Banks, refuse to lend to each other.


This has only happened once.


What occurred after St. Valentine’s Day through to Inauguration Day on March 4, 1933, was essentially a run on the entire Federal Reserve System. During the nine days preceding Inauguration Day, $422,000,000 in deposits and $384,000,000 in gold were withdrawn from the Federal Reserve System. Foreigners converting dollar deposits into bullion accounted for $300,000,000 of the gold withdrawn, and this gold left the country.52 In addition, during this period, the Federal Reserve Banks assisted member banks by making $347,000,000 of open-market purchases of securities and direct loans of $1,015,000,000. From the week of the Michigan bank holiday through the week of the inauguration, currency in circulation ballooned from $5,470,000,000 to $7,250,000,000, the result of widespread panicked cash hoarding.53


As the banking crisis was unfolding, the nation, even President Hoover, looked to President-elect Roosevelt for guidance, some public statement as to how he was going to avert a meltdown. But Roosevelt stayed aloof, vacationing aboard Vincent Astor’s 283-foot yacht, the Nourmahal, in the Caribbean. In his absence, Roosevelt had delegated to top aides Raymond Moley and Louis M. Howe the task of vetting the candidates for the critical cabinet post of secretary of the Treasury. Word of the man Roosevelt would choose for that position, the field general to confront the crisis, was eagerly awaited by Congress, the press, and the public. Roosevelt’s first choice was Virginia senator Carter Glass, who as a fiscal and monetary conservative and former secretary of the Treasury could help calm the panicked markets. But which of Glass’s demands could Roosevelt live with?54


Carter Glass was, to put it mildly, a difficult man. He was ill-tempered, racist, and often in poor health, physically and mentally, suffering frequent nervous breakdowns and hospitalizations. He was so arrogant that he thought it beneath him to campaign for election. He had never held a job in a private sector financial institution, and what limited formal education he had ended when he was fourteen. He is also the single most important lawmaker in the history of American finance. He drafted and shepherded through Congress the legislation creating the Federal Reserve System and later served as President Wilson’s secretary of the Treasury.55


Glass was the last man born in the antebellum South to serve in the U.S. Senate. By his own admission, he was an “unreconstructed rebel.” He was one of twelve children fathered by Robert Glass, a Lynchburg, Virginia, newspaperman. It was common practice in the mid-nineteenth-century American South for those feeling aggrieved by a newspaper’s editorial position to challenge the editor to a duel. Robert Glass was involved in many such duels, and Carter Glass would recall how his father once lost an eye in a shoot-out with three disgruntled readers.56


Carter Glass became a newspaperman himself, acquiring ownership of the Lynchburg News in 1888, when he was thirty. In 1889, he was elected to the Virginia State Senate. As a delegate to the Virginia Constitutional Convention of 1901–1902, he was author of a plan to institute a voting literacy test for the express purpose of disenfranchising African American voters, including from voting on ratification of the new Constitution itself. “For my part,” he said, “no Constitution can be framed by this Convention so obnoxious to my sense of right that I would desire to wield a cudgel against its fate to 146,000 Negro voters. No other member of this body should be willing to appeal to that depraved suffrage to defeat any part of the work of this Convention which may not suit him.”57


Glass was elected to the U.S. Congress in 1902, becoming chairman of the House Banking Committee in 1913, when he authored the Glass-Owen bill. After serving as Wilson’s Treasury secretary for fifteen months, he was appointed to fill the vacant U.S. Senate seat after the death of Senator Thomas Martin on February 20, 1920. While Duncan Fletcher of Florida was the ranking Democrat by seniority on the Senate Banking and Currency Committee, Carter Glass was far and away the Committee’s most influential member.


Glass told Moley he had two conditions in agreeing to become Roosevelt’s secretary of the Treasury: he wanted J.P. Morgan & Co. partner Russell Leffingwell as his undersecretary and a commitment from Roosevelt that he would take a strong anti-inflation policy position. Roosevelt made it clear that, in the current environment, there was no way he would accept a J.P. Morgan partner as undersecretary nor would he commit to an anti-inflation platform. “If the old boy doesn’t want to go along, I wouldn’t press it,” he said.58 The old boy didn’t go along, withdrawing himself from consideration for “reasons of health.” Howe and Moley cabled the news to Roosevelt aboard the Nourmahal, using code in case any reporter might intercept the radiogram: “PREFER A WOODEN ROOF TO A GLASS ROOF OVER SWIMMING POOL. LUHOWRAY.”59


The “wooden roof” was William Hartman Woodin, president of the American Car & Foundry Co., then the largest railroad equipment manufacturer in the world and, like most perfect second choices, a man objectionable to practically no one. But Willie Woodin was no Carter Glass as far as the financial community was concerned, and his appointment did nothing to calm the panic. Woodin, a moderate Republican who backed Democrat Alfred E. Smith for president in 1928 because of his anti-Prohibition stance, had been a director of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York since 1927. Under ordinary circumstances, Woodin would have been the safest of choices for Roosevelt—a member of the big-business establishment, with no discernible ideological views on matters of financial policy. But there was nothing ordinary about March 1933. Woodin’s chances for nomination were not hurt by the fact that he contributed $50,000 to the Roosevelt campaign, more than any other business executive.60


He was also a man of impeccable manners and politeness. Despite being one of Roosevelt’s largest financial contributors, he had once been barred entry from Roosevelt headquarters at the Biltmore Hotel in New York by a security guard who did not recognize him. Rather than confront the guard, Woodin went to a pay phone and called James Farley, Roosevelt’s campaign manager, and asked him if he could please have the doorman let him in.61 He was extraordinarily clubbable, belonging to New York’s Union Club, Union League Club, Racquet and Tennis Club, Metropolitan Club, and Lotus Club, among others.62 He was also a composer of music, both classical (his compositions were performed by Henry Hadley’s Manhattan Orchestra) and popular (he wrote Raggedy Ann’s Sunny Songs with children’s book author Johnny Gruelle; one of Gruelle’s songs, “Little Wooden Willie,”63 is believed to be named after him). He composed the theme song for the Inaugural Parade—the “Franklin D. Roosevelt March,” and another of his compositions, “The Covered Wagon,” was among the songs selected to be played by the National Symphony Orchestra at the pre-inaugural concert.64 Woodin certainly was in line with Roosevelt’s cheery optimism.


Needless to say, Woodin’s appointment was not universally praised. Arthur Krock of The New York Times, the dean of Washington journalists, wrote, “Knowing of Mr. Woodin only as a successful businessman who freely admitted that he knew nothing of the Treasury and its problems, many important people here, aware of the storm about to swirl about his head, were frankly uneasy.” Woodin’s amiability was itself viewed with suspicion, according to Krock. “One of the curiosities of the new Secretary’s personal and official triumph is that he is one of those men who laugh constantly, and who is generally photographed in that mood. The experience of the observers of Washington affairs is that steady smilers or chucklers who seem to find something agreeable or amusing in all situations are shams or stuffed shirts of a gentler species.”65 Contrary to all predictions, in his too short tenure, William Woodin would prove to be the boldest, most activist secretary of the Treasury since Alexander Hamilton.


There was one notable backer of Roosevelt who was left out of the action in the scramble for positions in the incoming administration. He secretly harbored the unrealistic ambition that he might be appointed secretary of the Treasury—and actually thought he deserved it. But if a J.P. Morgan & Co. partner could not be undersecretary of the Treasury, there was no chance that Joe Kennedy would get the top position. He was a speculator. He was also an Irish Catholic, and Roosevelt already had chosen one of those for his cabinet—James Farley, as postmaster general. In February 1933, Kennedy felt very far away from where he felt he deserved to be.


Following Roosevelt’s election, Kennedy awaited a call that never came. Throughout the pre-inauguration period, Kennedy waited and seethed as high-ranking New Deal positions were populated by those who he felt had done less for—and offered less to—the new president. Kennedy’s call would come, and his service as first federal securities regulator would be as critical to the creation of the modern financial system as that of Senator Glass or Secretary Woodin. But he would have to wait.


In the weeks before his inauguration, Roosevelt was asked numerous times by Hoover to make a joint statement to calm financial markets and a banking system veering toward outright collapse. He repeatedly refused. Relations between the two men were as poor, and perhaps worse, as between any incoming and outgoing president in history. Hoover refused to extend the customary pre-inaugural White House dinner to his successor, grudgingly agreeing to only a brief afternoon tea. After the inauguration, the two men would never see or speak to each other again.66


In the eleven days before the inauguration, as the banking crisis grew and more holidays were declared, seemingly out of nowhere, testimony in a U.S. Senate hearing room would shock and outrage the nation. The hearings held in that room, pitting the titans of banking against a theretofore unknown son of Italian immigrants, put Wall Street on trial before the American people. The verdict would be guilty, the sentence a tangle of new laws and regulations.





TWO





SUNSHINE CHARLIE AND THE SICILIAN


On January 30, 1933, Ferdinand Pecora, former assistant district attorney of New York County, began his work as chief counsel for a subcommittee of the Senate Banking and Currency Committee investigating stock market practices. To the relatively few interested observers paying close attention to the subcommittee’s hearings to date, the task ahead of Pecora had all the makings of a debacle—for him. Nearly eleven months into its work, the stock market practices subcommittee had uncovered little of note and had only until March 4, 1933—five weeks away—to report its findings to the full Senate. What was most noteworthy about the chief counsel’s job was that no one seemed to want it. Pecora was the fifth attorney in less than a year to fill the position, and his immediate predecessor, Irving Ben Cooper, had resigned in protest only a week after he was hired, claiming that the committee chairman, South Dakota Republican senator Peter Norbeck, failed to give him a free hand in the investigation.1


New York Stock Exchange president Richard Whitney was an early witness, appearing before the subcommittee in the fall of 1932. His testimony would be better characterized as a lecture to the assembled senators rather than an interrogation.2 So ineffectual was questioning of witnesses that Carter Glass publicly admitted that the hearings were going nowhere. The only memorable moment of the first round of hearings was the testimony of New York congressman Fiorello La Guardia. The feisty La Guardia produced evidence that a public relations man named Newton Plummer had paid nearly $300,000 over a ten-year period to various business journalists in exchange for flattering articles about companies whose stocks his clients had invested in. Plummer often wrote the planted stories himself, simply paying journalists to submit the stories under their bylines.3


When the hearings adjourned for the 1932 election season, no one thought they would amount to much. Indeed, they were a non-issue during the campaign.


Pecora acted quickly to try to establish that there was a new sheriff in town. As his first official act, he issued a subpoena to Charles E. Mitchell, chairman of the board of directors of National City Bank (predecessor of today’s Citigroup), summoning him to appear before the subcommittee on February 21, 1933.4 Two other National City Bank officials were also subpoenaed—Gordon Rentschler, president of National City Bank, and Horace Sylvester, vice president of National City Company, the securities affiliate of National City Bank. Mitchell, who had previously testified before the subcommittee in June 1932 and escaped unscathed, was more annoyed than concerned. This would prove to be an epic misjudgment by Mitchell.


There was little about the fifty-one-year-old Ferdinand Pecora that concerned senior executives of the nation’s largest commercial bank. While a talented prosecutor in New York City, rising to the number two position in the Manhattan district attorney’s office under Joab Banton, he was passed over for the top job and had spent the previous three years with an undistinguished record in private practice at the relatively obscure firm of Hartman, Sheridan & Tekulsky.5 What was interesting about Pecora was that he, of unmistakable Italian ancestry, had studied to be an Episcopal priest, his father having been one of the few successful converts of Protestant missionaries in Sicily during the 1880s. Religion aside, Pecora’s journey was a familiar one among the upwardly mobile children of southern and eastern European immigrants of New York. He attended public schools in the Chelsea section of Manhattan and went to college at the Episcopal Seminary School of St. Stephen’s College (since renamed Bard College), but dropped out in 1897 when his father became incapacitated as a result of an industrial accident. He took a job as a law clerk with a sole practitioner, J. Baldwin Hands, and worked his way through New York Law School, passing the bar in 1908. He got involved with politics, first with the Progressive “Bull Moose” Party in 1912 and later with the Tammany Hall Democrats in 1916. It was his Tammany connections that landed him the assistant district attorney job two years later.6


Few Italian Americans in the 1930s held professional jobs on Wall Street, and even fewer held jobs as attorneys at Wall Street law firms. Many at the time were doubtful that an Italian American like Pecora had the “background” or experience to understand how Wall Street banks operated. But his former boss, New York district attorney Banton, praised Pecora as “the best qualified lawyer in the country” to head the stock market practices subcommittee investigation. Few others agreed. Senator Norbeck offered him the job principally because Cooper’s abrupt resignation had left him in a desperate bind. Other, better qualified lawyers, such as Samuel Untermyer, chief counsel in the Pujo’s Committee hearings twenty years earlier, either expressed no interest or were waiting to see what, if anything, the new Congress and president would do with the investigation of Wall Street after the inauguration.


As Pecora prepared for the questioning of Mitchell, the drama between President Hoover and President-elect Roosevelt intensified. On Saturday, February 18, at the annual Inner Circle banquet in New York City at the Hotel Astor, a lighthearted dinner where members of the New York press corps would perform skits lampooning New York and national politicians, Hoover sent a Secret Service agent over to Roosevelt’s table to deliver a handwritten letter asking that Roosevelt give prompt public assurance that he would balance the budget and maintain an anti-inflation monetary policy. He also requested that Roosevelt publicly name his secretary of the Treasury, who could liaise with the outgoing Hoover administration on responding to the growing banking crisis. Roosevelt read the letter, passed it to his close adviser Raymond Moley and went back to enjoying the dinner. He had no intention to jump aboard Hoover’s sinking ship. Roosevelt believed the banks would collapse no matter what he said, and interjecting himself into the crisis would only dissipate his own prestige.7


On February 21, Charles Mitchell sat at the center of a long mahogany table in Room 30 of the Senate Office Building, directly across from Ferdinand Pecora and Senator Norbeck. To his left and right sat a phalanx of high-priced lawyers from the Wall Street firm of Shearman & Sterling and the Washington firm of Covington & Burling.8 Mitchell had no sense that by the end of that day’s testimony, his career in banking would be finished.
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“A compelling, amazingly colorful story about the great financial battles that
shaped public life in the 1930s and the financial institutions that both protect and imperil us now.”
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